NO. 23-CV-0267



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 10/06/2023 04:35 PM Filed 10/06/2023 04:35 PM

FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB,

Appellant,

v.

SALVADOR RIVAS; ADVANCED FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS, LLC; NEW HAMPSHIRE CONDOMINIUM UNIT OWNERS' ASSOCIATION,

Appellees.

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court 2017 CA 000373 R(RP)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB n/k/a FLAGSTAR BANK, N.A.

Andrew J. Narod (D.C. Bar No. 1006083)
David T. Long, Jr. (D.C. Bar No. 90002637)
BRADLEY ARANT BOULT CUMMINGS LLP
1615 L Street NW, Ste. 1350
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 719-8271 (Narod direct)
(202) 719-8239 (Long direct)
anarod@bradley.com
dlong@bradley.com

October 6, 2023

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal of three orders entered in Case No. 2017 CA 00373 R(RP) from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. On October 10, 2019, the Superior Court issued an order granting Defendant-Appellee New Hampshire House Condominium Unit Owners Association's (the "Association") partial motion to dismiss, disposing of Plaintiff-Appellants Flagstar Bank, FSB n/k/a Flagstar Bank, N.A.'s ("Flagstar") breach of fiduciary duty and unjust enrichment claims against the Association (the "2019 Order"). On September 1, 2020, the Superior Court issued another order granting the Association's motion to dismiss, disposing of Flagstar's judicial foreclosure and declaratory judgment claims against the Association (the "2020 Order"). On April 5, 2023, the Superior Court issued final order, granting Defendant-Appellee Advanced Financial Investments, LLC's ("AFI") motion for judgment on the pleadings, disposing of Flagstar's claims against AFI ("2023 Order").

Flagstar timely appealed each of these orders when it filed its notice of appeal on March 29, 2023.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Superior Court err by deviating from the standard of review for a motion to dismiss when it failed to accept Flagstar's allegations as true and draw all reasonable inferences in Flagstar's favor?

- 2. Did the Superior Court err by determining that Flagstar's claims were time-barred on the face of the complaint?
- 3. Did the Superior Court err by determining when Flagstar's causes of actions accrued, a contested factual issue, on a motion to dismiss?
- 4. Did the Superior Court err by failing to consider the discovery rule invoked by Flagstar, thereby applying the incorrect standard for what constituted the accrual of Flagstar's cause of actions, resulting in the dismissal of Flagstar's causes of action as time-barred?
- 5. Did the Superior Court err by failing to consider each discovery rule factor, *i.e.*, when Flagstar knew or should have known of (1) its injury, (2) the injury's cause in fact, and (3) of some evidence of wrongdoing by Appellee's, before determining what constituted the accrual of Flagstar's cause of actions?
- 6. To the extent the Superior Court considered the discovery rule, did it err in its application?
- 7. Did the Superior Court fail to assess Flagstar's allegation independently in its 2020 Order, instead relying on conclusions in the 2019 Order that did not properly consider or apply the discovery rule and erroneously held that Flagstar's claims were, in part, time-barred?
- 8. Did the Superior Court fail to assess Flagstar's allegation independently in its 2023 Order, instead relying on conclusions in the 2019 Order

that did not properly consider or apply the discovery rule and erroneously held that Flagstar's claims were, in part, time-barred?

- 9. Did the Superior Court err in its 2023 Order in finding Flagstar's unjust enrichment claim against AFI was time-barred?
- 10. Did the Superior Court err in determining that Flagstar's lien was extinguished as a matter of law when it failed to consider this Court's rulings in *Liu v. U.S. Bank National Ass'n*, 179 A.3d 871 (D.C. 2018), *4700 Conn 305 Trust v. Capital One, N.A.*, 193 A.3d 762 (D.C. 2018), and *U.S. Bank Tr., N.A. v. Omid Land Grp., LLC*, 279 A.3d 374, 379 (D.C. 2022), which expressly permit the holder of a first deed of trust to seek avoidance of the extinguishment of its lien under D.C. Code § 42-1903.13 by challenging the price and terms of the sale?

STATEMENT OF CASE

In a 2019 Order, the Superior Court incorrectly ruled that Flagstar's claims were time-barred. The Superior Court's Order relied on several incorrect assumptions, and as a result, it failed to apply the discovery rule or the principle of equitable tolling in the manner required under the law of the District of Columbia. These errors had a cascading effect on future proceedings in this case, as each of the later orders appealed from relied on portions of the 2019 Order to support the erroneous findings made therein. The cascading errors of the Superior Court ultimately resulted in the erroneous dismissal of all of Flagstar's claims against

both Appellees. As a result, the Superior Court erroneously provided AFI free and clear title to a property purchased at a condominium foreclosure sale that was (1) sold at an unconscionably low price and (2) containing patently false terms of sale, without adjudicating claims concerning those irregularities on their merits.

Flagstar filed for judicial foreclosure against AFI and Appellee Salvador Rivas ("Mr. Rivas") on January 19, 2017. Mr. Rivas defaulted on the mortgage encumbering 3540 Rock Creek Church Rd. NW, Apt 102, Washington, D.C. 20010 (the "Property"). The Superior Court entered default judgment against Mr. Rivas. AFI filed an answer to Flagstar's complaint. In its answer, AFI stated that it owned the Property in 2014 following the Association's foreclosure on its condominium lien, and, for the first time, asserted that Flagstar's lien was extinguished under D.C. Code § 42-1903.03. As a result, Flagstar amended its complaint, adding the Association as an indispensable party and asserted claims that addressed the validity of the Association's foreclosure sale.

The Association filed a partial motion to dismiss Flagstar's breach of fiduciary duty and unjust enrichment claims, both of which pertained to the validity of the Association's foreclosure sale, as time barred. On October 10, 2019, the Superior Court granted the Association's partial motion to dismiss, finding that Flagstar possessed sufficient facts about its claims in 2014, around the time of the Association's foreclosure sale, which triggered the three-year statute of limitations

applicable to its claims against the Association, and Flagstar failed to assert those claims against the Association by 2017. The Superior Court further "put[] aside Flagstar's contention that the Association" misrepresented that the condominium sale was subject to Flagstar's Deed of Trust, implying that the Association could not be liable for misrepresentation and therefore could not violate Flagstar's rights because the Association could not anticipate that the condominium sale would extinguish Flagstar's Deed of Trust in 2014. Instead, the Superior Court concluded that Flagstar had the same ability as the Association to anticipate a change in the law.

The Association subsequently filed a motion to dismiss Flagstar's judicial foreclosure and declaratory judgment claims, with both claims also pertaining to the validity of the Association's foreclosure sale, as time-barred and on the basis that Flagstar's lien was extinguished. On September 1, 2020, the Superior Court granted the Association's motion to dismiss, disposing of all claims against the Association. In dismissing the judicial foreclosure and declaratory judgment claim the Superior Court determined that the Association's condominium foreclosure sale extinguished Flagstar's Deed of Trust as a matter of law, ignoring Flagstar's contentions as to the validity of the sale based on the inadequacy of the sale price and the misstatements in the condominium foreclosure sale advertisement, pursuant to 4700 Conn 305 Trust. Additionally, the Superior Court, relying on the

2019 Order, determined that the facts underpinning the declaratory judgment claim, including the inadequacy of the sale price, were time-barred because Flagstar had "the same ability as the Association to anticipate a change in the law."

AFI subsequently filed a motion to dismiss and/or motion for summary judgment to dispose of Flagstar's judicial foreclosure, declaratory judgment, and unjust enrichment claims, alleging therein that the claims were time-barred and that Flagstar's lien was extinguished under D.C. Code § 42-1903.03. On February 27, 2023, the Superior Court granted AFI's motion, disposing of all claims against AFI. In disposing of Flagstar's claims, the Superior Court cited the 2019 and 2020 Order, finding that it previously determined that Flagstar's claims against the Association were time-barred and applied the same reasoning to the claims against AFI. In fact, the Superior Court's 2023 Order was void of any substantive analysis of the claims against AFI.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about July 24, 2009, Flagstar loaned Mr. Rivas the principal amount of \$256,634.00 to Mr. Rivas (the "Loan"). AA171-172. In return, Mr. Rivas executed both a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust, both signed under seal. AA187-203. The Deed of Trust was recorded with the Recorder of Deeds for the District of Columbia on April 30, 2010. AA172. On October 10, 2014, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems Inc., as nominee for Flagstar, assigned its rights

under the Note and Deed of Trust to Flagstar. AA172. This assignment was recorded with the Recorder of Deeds. AA204-206. Flagstar holds the Note and is the current beneficiary of the Deed of Trust. AA172.

On May 1, 2010, Mr. Rivas defaulted on the Note. AA172. As a result, on June 18, 2010, a demand letter was sent to Mr. Rivas, accelerating the Loan. AA172. Mr. Rivas also apparently failed to pay his condominium fees. Consequently, in November 2014, the Association noticed a foreclosure sale of the Property for six months of unpaid condominium assessments in the amount of \$22,234.75. AA176. The Association scheduled a foreclosure sale date of December 23, 2014 (the "2014 Foreclosure"). AA172.

The Association, through its Attorney Elizabeth Menist, advertised the 2014 Foreclosure (the "Advertisement") in advance of the selected sale date. AA172. The Association's Advertisement of this sale contained the following:

TERMS OF SALE: Sold subject to the first deed of trust for the amount of approximately \$256,632.00 (as of 7/24/2009). . . . Also sold subject to any other prior liens, encumbrances, and municipal assessments. . . .

AA223. At the 2014 Foreclosure, the auctioneer announced that the Property was being sold subject to Flagstar's Deed of Trust. AA172.

At the 2014 Foreclosure, AFI acquired the Property for \$26,000.00, receiving a Memorandum of Purchase. AA172. The Memorandum of Purchase reinforced that the purchase by AFI was subject to the first Deed of Trust "from

7/24/2009 original amount of \$256,632" and subject to the terms of the Advertisement (the "Memorandum of Purchase"). AA172. Soon after the purchase, a Trustee's Deed of Foreclosure for Unpaid Condominium Assessments, stating that Property was sold subject to Flagstar's Deed of Trust, was recorded with the Recorder of Deeds for the District of Columbia as Instrument Number 2015013627 (the "Trustee's Deed"). AA172.

Flagstar believed that its Deed of Trust was protected because the Advertisement, Memorandum of Purchase, and the recorded Trustee's Deed all stated that the Property was subject to the Deed of Trust. AA172. Thus, Flagstar continued to pay property taxes on the Property, even after AFI took ownership. AA180-181.

In proceedings before the Superior Court, Flagstar alleged that the statement in the Advertisement that the Property would be sold subject to Flagstar's Deed of Trust was false. AA177. This misrepresentation suppressed the bidding price for the Property to the extent that potential bidders and Flagstar believed that the Property was subject to a \$256,632.00 mortgage. As a result, AFI was able to purchase the Property for \$26,000, less than ten percent of the Property's actual value.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Superior Court erred in holding that AFI and the Association met its burden under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6) or 12(c) because Flagstar's Amended Complaint alleged sufficient facts that: (1) its claims were not time-barred under the discovery rule, and (2) that the 2014 Foreclosure was invalid.

First, the Superior Court erred when it determined that Flagstar's claims were time-barred at the motion to dismiss stage. Flagstar alleged that it was unaware that its Deed of Trust was in jeopardy, relying on the Association's statements regarding the 2014 Foreclosure and the Advertisement. AA176. However, the terms of the Advertisement were false, as AFI sought to extinguish Flagstar's Deed of Trust because of the 2014 Foreclosure. AA083. Flagstar learned of this falsity when AFI asserted its defenses to Flagstar's judicial foreclosure claim and promptly filed an amended complaint. AA085-AA146. Nevertheless, Appellees argued in their motions to dismiss that Flagstar was aware of its injury in 2014. By asserting the statute of limitations defense, Appellees created a factual dispute, one not appropriate for entertainment on a motion to dismiss.

Second, the Superior Court erred by ignoring the standard of review for a motion to dismiss when it determined that Flagstar's claims accrued in 2014, a disputed issue of fact at the motion to dismiss phase, without granting deference to Flagstar, accepting its allegations as true, and resolving inferences in its favor.

Third, the Superior Court erred by failing to address the discovery rule invoked by Flagstar before granting Appellees' motions to dismiss. Here, the Superior Court never considered Flagstar's allegations regarding its reliance on the Association's statements or the sophistication of the Association concerning condominium lien sales, both important factors in determining whether the discovery rule applies. Further to the extent the Superior Court considered the discovery rule, it failed to address all relevant factors.

<u>Four</u>th, the Superior Court erred in its 2020 and 2023 Order by determining that Flagstar's claims were time-barred without engaging in an independent analysis of Flagstar's allegations, instead relying on the erroneous conclusion in the 2019 Order, which did not consider the discovery rule, that Flagstar was aware of its claims in 2014.

<u>Fifth</u>, the Superior Court further erred in determining that Flagstar's lien was extinguished by the 2014 foreclosure, despite prevailing law that expressly permits the holder of a first deed of trust to seek avoidance of the extinguishment of its lien under D.C. Code § 42-1903.13. Flagstar raised two genuine issues regarding the validity of the 2014 foreclosure sale, both of which should have prevented the Superior Court from granting the Association's and AFI's motions.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The only issue on review of a dismissal made pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is the legal sufficiency of the complaint." *Scott v. FedChoice Fed. Credit Union*, 274 A.3d 318, 322 (D.C. 2022). So, too, for a dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(c). *See Potomac Dev. Corp. v. Dist. of Columbia*, 28 A.3d 531, 544 (D.C.2011). This Court reviews the grant of a motion to dismiss *de novo*, applying the "same standard the trial court was required to apply." *Hoff v. Wiley Rein, LLP*, 110 A.3d 561, 564 (D.C. 2015). The same standard of review applies to the grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings. *See, e.g., Dist. of Columbia v. Beretta, U.S.A., Corp.*, 872 A.2d 633, 639 (D.C.2005) (*en banc*).

All that is required for a complaint to be sufficient is "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 8(a)(2); *In re Estate of Curseen v. Ingersoll*, 890 A.2d 191, 193-94 (D.C. 2006). Accordingly, the Court must accept the "allegations in the complaint as true" and view "all facts and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff." *Hillbroom v. Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP*, 17 A.3d 566, 573 (D.C. 2011). All "uncertainties or ambiguities in the complaint must be resolved in favor of the pleader." *Hillbroom*, 17 A.3d at 573.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

- I. The Superior Court Erred In Granting The Association's Partial Motion To Dismiss The Amended Complaint By Adjudicating Disputed Factual Contentions And By Failing To Accept Flagstar's Allegations In Its Pleadings As True And Drawing All Reasonable Inferences In Its Favor, And By Incorrectly Determining When Flagstar Knew Or Should Have Known The Facts Underlying Its Claims.
 - A. The Superior Court erred by determining the date upon which Flagstar's claims accrued, which date was disputed amongst the parties, at the motion to dismiss stage.

In its 2019 Order, the Superior Court explained that there was no dispute over the applicable limitations period by which the timeliness of Flagstar's claims in Count III (breach of fiduciary duty) and Count IV (unjust enrichment) would be measured. Instead, per the Superior Court's Order, the issue requiring adjudication was "whether Flagstar knew or should have known around the time of the foreclosure sale in 2014 the facts that give rise to its two claims against the Association." AA275. The Superior Court then reviewed the allegations in the Amended Complaint, as well as the divergent positions of the various parties to this matter, and determined when Flagstar's claims accrued. AA276-277.

That the Superior Court determined the date of claim accrual at all, in light of the parties' dispute as to the issue of accrual, constitutes reversible error. "Generally, the statute of limitations is invoked as an affirmative defense, and the defendant bears the burden of showing that a claim is time-barred." *Logan v. LaSalle Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 80 A.3d 1014, 1019-20 (D.C. 2013). While there are

some contexts in which the statute of limitations may be adjudicated at the dismissal stage, "a court should not dismiss on statute of limitations grounds unless the claim is time-barred on the face of the complaint." *Id.*; *see also Bregman v. Perles*, 747 F.3d 873, 875 (D.C. Cir. 2014) ("[B]ecause statute of limitations issues often depend on contested questions of fact, dismissal is appropriate only if the complaint on its face is conclusively time-barred." (alteration in original) (citations omitted)). To be time-barred on the face of the complaint, a court must be able to determine when the cause of action accrued as a matter of law. *See Boyd. v. Kilpatrick Townsend & Stockton*, 164 A.3d 72, 84 (D.C. 2017) (McLeese, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).

This principle is particularly true when the relationship between the fact of a party's injury and the conduct underlying that injury is obscure, such that the date of accrual is subject to the discovery rule. *See Medhin v. Hailu*, 26 A.3d 307, 310 (D.C. 2011) (discovery rule applies where relationship between injury and underlying conduct is obscure). When the discovery rule is implicated, "[t]he critical question in assessing the existence *vel non* of inquiry notice is whether the plaintiff exercised reasonable diligence under the circumstances in acting or failing to act on whatever information was available to him." *Ray v. Queen*, 747 A.2d 1137, 1141–42 (D.C. 2000). The answer to this question "is highly fact-bound and requires an evaluation of all of the plaintiff's circumstances." *Diamond v. Davis*,

680 A.2d 364, 382 (D.C. 1996). Intertwined in this analysis is also the adjudication as to when "the plaintiff either has actual notice of the cause of action or—given the obligation to discover the discoverable—has 'inquiry notice' as of the time a reasonable investigation would have led to actual notice." *Wagner v. Sellinger*, 847 A.2d 1151, 1154 (D.C. 2004) (quoting *Diamond*, 680 A.2d at 372). Thus, this Court has held that where the discovery rule is implicated, summary judgment, which requires a higher standard than a motion to dismiss, is improper—particularly when there is a disputed question about the plaintiff's diligence in investigating a possible cause of action. *See Ezra Co. v. Psychiatric Inst. of Washington, D.C.*, 687 A.2d 587, 593 (D.C.1996) (remanding case to determine whether fraudulent concealment precluded further inquiry).

More recently, in the context of adjudication of accrual date of a quiet title claim at the dismissal stage, this Court explained that "[t]he date of accrual should not have been determined at the motion to dismiss stage since the date was in dispute by the parties." *RFB Props., LLC v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n*, 284 A.3d 381, 384 n.5 (D.C. 2022) (citing *Brin v. S.E.W. Invr.'s*, 902 A.2d 784, 800-01 (D.C. 2006)). This Court and other courts have made similar determinations on several occasions. *See Johnson v. Long Beach Mortg. Loan Tr. 2001-4*, 451 F. Supp. 2d 16, 50 (D.D.C. 2006) (court "could not determine the dates of accrual of plaintiff's claims as a matter of law"); *Farris v. Compton*, 652 A.2d 49, 59 (D.C.

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