NO. 23-CV-0267

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB

Appellant

v.

SALVADOR RIVAS; ADVANCED FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS, LLC; NEW HAMPSHIRE CONDOMINIUM UNIT OWNERS; ASSOCIATION APPELLEES

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia 2017 CA 000373 R(RP)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE ADVANCED FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS, LLC

October 30, 2023

Richard J. Link, #443609
KARPEL LINK & CAPORALETTI
77 S Washington Street, Suite 307
Rockville, MD 20850
(240) 453-9191
rlink@karpellinklaw.com

Counsel for Co-Defendant Advanced Financial Investments, LLC

RULE 28(a)(2) STATEMENT

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

1901.07. Except as expressly provided by this chapter a provision of this chapter may not be waived."

Chase Plaza Condominium Association, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, 98 A.3d at 178

In the case *sub judice*, the *Chase Plaza* decision (together with the December 2014 foreclosure sale involving a super-priority condominium lien) uncertainty as to the priority of Flagstar's Deed of Trust, such that Flagstar was on inquiry notice of its claims. Chase Plaza provided notice to the world of the legal effects of a condo foreclosure sale. The legal issue undergirding Flagstar's claims is the priority of its security interest. That is purely a legal question. This Court has previously explained the circumstances that a party is on inquiry notice in the context of a real property dispute. In Clay Properties, Inc. v. Wash. Post Co., 604 A.2d 890 (D.C.1992), this Court examined whether the purchaser of property was on notice of a leasehold interest. The Clay Court said: "A purchaser [of real property] is held to be on inquiry notice where he or she is aware of circumstances which generate enough uncertainty about the state of title that a person of ordinary prudence would inquire further about those circumstances.". Id at 895 Just like the plaintiff in Clay, supra, Flagstar was on notice of all facts giving rise to the extinguishment claim as of December 2014 when the condo foreclosure occurred.

Assuming *arguendo* that the accrual date can be tied to the date that a party has knowledge of legal rights (and the legal implication of the facts), Flagstar's claim still fails. Flagstar was on inquiry notice based on the clear language from the Chase Plaza decision. Flagstar acknowledges that it essentially accepted the representations of the Association's lawyers to the effect that the property could be sold subject to the first Deed of Trust, even though Flagstar was on notice as of August 2014 that such a waiver is forbidden under the Act. In order to avail itself of the discovery rule, Flagstar's conduct must be reasonable and its failure to heed the ramifications in *Chase Plaza* is inexcusable. This is especially true where Flagstar says it was unaware of its claim until March 2018 – over three years after the Chase Plaza decision and the condo foreclosure sale. This shows a clear lack of diligence (or attention) to the situation at hand. This lack of diligence is viewed in the larger context that: (1) Flagstar could have taken steps to collect money in escrow to use for condominium association dues; (2) Flagstar could have paid the six (6) months of unpaid condominium dues to keep its priority in the deed of trust; (3) Flagstar was (or should have been) aware of AFI's position because AFI did not make any mortgage payments after it acquired the title in February 2015. The key issue is that Flagstar had inquiry notice as of December 2014, even if it did not have actual notice.

In its Brief, Flagstar says it justifiably believed that its lien was not in jeopardy in December 2014. (Brief, p. 8, 17, 19) In support of its argument, Flagstar relies in part on this Court's decision in *United States Bank Trust, N.A. v Omid Land Group*, 279 A.2d 374 (DC 2022), positing that that the state of the law was unsettled prior to this Court's decisions in *Liu v US Bank*, 179 A3d 871 (DC 2018) and 4700 *Conn Ave 305 Trust v Capital One, NA, 193 A.3d 762* (DC 2018). (Appellant's Brief at 34) However, those cases were not decided based on the statute of limitations. Furthermore, the test is not whether the law was crystal clear but rather, the test is whether Flagstar was on inquiry notice as of 2014. And clearly, Flagstar was clearly on inquiry notice.

C. Flagstar's claims are not saved by the doctrine of equitable tolling

Under the doctrine of equitable tolling, the statute of limitations can be extended if the plaintiff can demonstrate that he was ignorant of his injury during the limitations period, but he acted with reasonable diligence and care in pursuing his claims. Flagstar argues that DC law was not clear until this Court decided *Liu v US Bank* in March 2018, and at that time it became aware of the change in DC law to the effect that "any attempt by a condominium association or a holder of a first mortgage or deed of trust to have a condominium association's super-priority lien waived or varied by contract is invalid as a matter of law.' Id at 877-879,

Flagstar argues that "Flagstar's statute of limitations should have been tolled based on this intervening change in prevailing law." (Appellant's Brief at p 35) As stated above, Flagstar was not diligent in taking steps to appreciate its legal position in 2014 – when *Chase Plaza* was decided and when AFI acquired title. In *East v. Graphic Arts Industry Joint Pension Trust*, 718 A.2d 153 (DC 1992), this Court rejected a plaintiff's reliance on equitable tolling to extend the limitations period in an employment discrimination lawsuit:

East claims that she first learned of DCHRA at a social event on March 6, 1994, nearly a year after she was terminated. The next day, East telephoned the District of Columbia Department of Human Rights ("DHR") and learned of the procedure for filing an administrative complaint. She received the forms in the mail and completed and returned them in person on March 15, 1994, just days before the expiration of the one-year limitations period for filing an administrative complaint under DCHRA.5 East claimed that she was unaware at that time of her right to file a discrimination suit in court..

* * *

In June 1994, East consulted with an attorney who informed her of her right to file a discrimination suit in a District of Columbia court. On March 3, 1995, nine months after learning from the attorney of her right to file suit and nearly two years after the alleged discriminatory event occurred, East brought this action in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia. *East v. Graphic Arts Industry Joint Pension Trust*, 718 A.2d 153, 155-156.

According to Flagstar's own pleadings, the prior owner, Rivas, was in default on May 1, 2010, but Flagstar filed the judicial foreclosure proceedings for the first time in 2017. (AA 00172, Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 14-15) Also, Flagstar was fully aware that AFI did not pay the mortgage commencing from when it acquired title in

February 2015, thus placing Flagstar on notice of the extinguishment claim. Moreover, Flagstar did not file for leave to amend the Complaint until November 12, 2018 – approximately eight (8) months after AFI filed its Answer, and almost four (4) years after the condominium foreclosure sale. (AA14) Flagstar did not diligently pursue its claims – much like the plaintiff in *East v. Graphic Arts Industry Joint Pension Trust, supra*.

Also, in weighing the equities of Flagstar's tolling argument, it is important to note that equitable tolling works an injustice on AFI. AFI has been the record owner of the property since the deed was filed in February 2015. There is a decided benefit to putting an end to ongoing litigation — such as the instant case - where Flagstar seeks to set aside a foreclosure sale that was in compliance with the statutory procedures.

In its Brief, Flagstar relies on *Simpson v District of Columbia Office of Human Rights*, 597 A.2d 392 (DC 1991). In that case, this Court found that the statute of limitations was tolled because, for several years, there was judicial unclarity as to whether (and where) an appeal could be filed. Flagstar posits that there was similar uncertainty under the DC Condominium Act as to whether the super-priority status would remain in place after a sale. (Appellant's Brief, p. 37). Flagstar maintains that this is an equitable consideration that permits tolling of the limitations period.

AFI disagrees that equitable tolling is appropriate in the case *sub judice*;

First, the law pertaining to super-priority liens after *Chase Plaza* was not opaque. Flagstar could have discerned the legal principles that this Court's later decisions in *Liu v US Bank NA*, 179 A.3d 871 (2018) and *4700 Conn 305 Trust, v Capital One, NA*, 193 A.3d 762 (DC 2018)

Second, the *Simpson* case involved a pro se plaintiff who was seeking redress for her employment discrimination complaint, in a complex area of the law. Suffice it to say that Flagstar – a large bank represented by counsel - does not stand similarly situated to Ms. Simpson.

Third, the legal authority relied upon by Flagstar is inapposite. In *Garza v Burnett*, 321 P.3d 1004 (Utah 2013) the Utah Supreme Court addressed a situation where a change in federal law had shortened the statute of limitations for a plaintiff to file a civil rights claim. That court said that the plaintiff should be afforded the benefit of the prior limitations period (before the change in law). The case *sub judice* does not implicate any change in the law. Flagstar also cites *Lerner v City of Los Angeles*, where a California court said that the plaintiff's cause of action did not accrue until plaintiff's teaching certificate was reinstated. That case appears to be based more on when the plaintiff had proper standing to pursue his claims rather than on any equitable consideration. *Lerner v. Los Angeles City Bd. of Ed.*, 380 P.2d 97 (Cal. 1963) That case has no resemblance to the instant case.

This Court has declined to extend the doctrine of equitable tolling in many situations, even where the plaintiff had an ostensibly meritorious claim. For example, in *Bond v Serano*, 566 A.2d 47 (DC 1989) this Court refused to toll the statute of limitations in the case of plaintiff's good faith mistake of forum (filing of a diversity action against the District of Columbia in federal court does not toll statute of limitations even where subsequent unrelated case held that federal courts lacked pendent party jurisdiction over the District of Columbia resulting in dismissal of the diversity action). If this Court has refused to apply equitable tolling in cases of mistake of forum, it seems equally logical to decline Flagstar's invitation to apply the doctrine to a mistake of law (where Flagstar was under the misapprehension that its lien was protected).

Flagstar argues that the 2019 and 2020 Orders are wrong because the trial court misapplied the statute of limitations. Flagstar posits that this error was carried over into the Court's 2023 Order which dismissed Counts I, II and IV against AFI. As stated above, AFI respectfully avers that the 2019 Order correctly assessed the limitations issue, and the trial court's reliance on that Order was an adequate basis to dismiss Flagstar's claims against AFI in the February 2023 Order. Finally, Flagstar relies (and incorporates by reference) the arguments raised in the Association's Brief.

D. The trial court Property Resolved the Limitations Issue on the Pleadings as there was no factual dispute for the court resolve

The trial court may dismiss a claim for failure to comply with the applicable statute of limitations under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6) if "the claim is time-barred on the face of the complaint." *Logan v. LaSalle Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 80 A.3d 1014, 1020 (DC 2013). This Court conducts a *de novo* review of the trial court's dismissal of a complaint under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6). Id. at 1019. Flagstar argues that the facts in the Amended Complaint are treated as being true when adjudicating a 12(b)6 motion. However, even accepting these averments as true, there is still the legal question of whether Flagstar may challenge the extinguishment of its lien over three (3) years after the December 23, 2014 sale. Flagstar had knowledge of the condo foreclosure sale - and the circumstances of the sale - in 2014.

Flagstar argues that there are factual issues that need to be resolved in adjudicating the issue as to when its cause of action accrued. Indeed, there are circumstances as to when a finder of fact must decide the factual issue as to when a cause of action accrued. For example, in *P.H. Sheehy Co. v. Eastern Importing & Manufacturing Co.*, 44 App.D.C. 107 (1915), the court applied the discovery rule, in the context of a "constructive fraud." The plaintiff in that case claimed that the defendant had sold defective sardines. However, the plaintiff did not discover the defect until it received complaints from the retailers to whom it had sold the sardines.

The court said that under those facts, "the cause should have been submitted to the jury, with an instruction to the effect that the statute of limitations only began to run from the time when plaintiff, by the exercise of ordinary diligence under all the circumstances of the case, ought to have ascertained the fact of the breach of the warranty." P.H. Sheehy Co. v. Eastern Importing & Manufacturing Co., 44 App.D.C. at 112. Thus, the question in P.H. Sheehy, supra, was when a plaintiff should be charged with knowing the facts that gave rise to his claims. However, P.H. Sheehy is distinguishable from the instant case. A jury could never be asked to decide the issue of when Flagstar should have become aware of the legal implication of the facts already known to Flagstar. Thus, it was a question of law for the trial court to determine whether the accrual date could plausibly be tied to the date that Flagstar had actual legal knowledge of its claims. In its Brief, Flagstar acknowledges that the date of accrual is a fact but what constitutes accrual is a question of law. (Appellant's Brief, p. 18) In addressing the accrual issue on a motion to dismiss, the trial judge had to decide whether Flagstar's "actual knowledge" date may constitute the date of accrual as a matter of law. The trial judge rejected that argument and found that Flagstar should have known of the basis for AFI's extinguishment claim in 2014 based on statutes and legal principles. (AA 277) The question, properly posed, is this: Whether, as a matter of law and viewing the allegations in the Amended Complaint as true, is the March 2018 date the date of accrual? The trial court's

adjudication of the accrual issue on a motion was correct because in this case Flagstar posits that its claim accrued when it had actual knowledge of the legal effect of the 2014 foreclosure sale. Flagstar's request that this Court remand the case to the trial court to develop a complete record makes no sense because there are no disputed facts to address.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT

FLAGSTAR'S LIEN WAS EXTINGUISHED

A. The trial court properly dismissed Count 1 (judicial foreclosure) because Flagstar was time-barred from moving to set aside the condo foreclosure sale

Flagstar argues that the lower court erred by summarily dismissing Count 1 and ruling that its lien was extinguished in December 2014. The 2023 Order relied on the prior judicial findings that Flagstar was time-barred from challenging the foreclosure sale:

"to the extent that plaintiff argues that its claims in this matter are sufficient grounds to invalidate the foreclosure sale, the Honorable Anthony C. Epstein previously determined that these claims are time barred. Thus, this Court finds that the precedent established by 4700 Conn. is sufficient to dismiss this claim, as Plaintiff's lien was extinguished at the time of the December 2014 foreclosure sale." (AA 276)

Flagstar argues that Count 1 (pertaining to judicial foreclosure) is wholly separate from Count 2 (declaratory relief) and Count 3 breach of fiduciary duty) - "even an assumption that Count II was time barred should not have impacted the adjudication of Claim I, which was not dismissed on this basis." (Appellant's

Brief, p. 43) Flagstar disagrees. Flagstar is wrong. The trial court correctly determined that Flagstar's lien was extinguished, and that dismissal of Count 1 was essentially mandated by dismissal of Count 2.¹

AFI's legal argument can be succinctly stated in the following syllogism:

- 1) AFI acquired the property at a valid condo foreclosure sale.
- 2) A valid condo foreclosure sale extinguishes all junior liens
- 3) Flagstar is a junior lienholder
- 4) Therefore, Flagstar's lien was extinguished

Flagstar argues that the first premise is false because there must be evidence of a valid condo foreclosure sale. However, Flagstar is procedurally barred from challenging the AFI's claim that there was a valid condo foreclosure sale based on the dismissal of Count 2 (declaratory relief) and Count 3 of the Amended Complaint (based on a breach of fiduciary duty).

The trial court determined that Flagstar was precluded from litigating the issue of: (1) the adequacy of consideration/the allegedly unconscionable sales price; and (2) the propriety of the notice of the condo foreclosure sale (which Flagstar claims was misleading and caused plaintiff to believe that its lien retained priority). Indeed,

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